Filed 09-20-2022

FILED 09-20-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2022AP788

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Respondent,

v.

INTRODUCTION

This is a consumer protection action brought by the State under Wis. Stat. § 100.18, the Deceptive Trade Practices Act, against several related corporate defendants and the individual who controls those entities. The State's complaint alleged that the defendants misrepresented facts about the used engines and other auto parts they sold, such as the mileage of the engines, whether they had been tested, and the locations of the businesses selling them. The State brought claims under Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1), which prohibits making any false or deceptive statement in advertising a product for sale, and Wis. Stat. § 100.18(10r), which prohibits misrepresenting that a business is located in a particular community or region when it is not.

The circuit court committed two errors of law that prevented the State from trying its full case.

First, the court held that Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1) does not apply to misrepresentations made in Wisconsin by an in-state business that are received by someone outside the state. The plain language of the statute, however, applies to the actions of the advertiser, not the consumer. Thus, the statute applies to representations made or caused to be made in Wisconsin regardless of whether the person who heard the advertisement is in Wisconsin or resides here.

Second, the circuit court held that the State must prove someone suffered a pecuniary loss in order to prove a violation of Wis. Stat. § 100.18. Thus, the court added an element to both of the State's legal claims that is not in the statute and contrary to supreme court precedent. In contrast to the private cause of action for an injured consumer, which does require pecuniary loss, the elements for a state enforcement action include no such component.

This Court should reverse the circuit court and remand for a new trial.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Wisconsin Stat. § 100.18(1) provides that no one "shall make, publish, disseminate, circulate, or place before the public, or cause, directly or indirectly, to be made, published, disseminated, circulated, or placed before the public, in this state, in" various forms, "an advertisement, announcement, statement or representation of any kind to the public" that "contains any assertion, representation or statement of fact which is untrue, deceptive or misleading." The statute focuses on the actions a person or entity is prohibited from making and does not mention the recipient's location or state of residence. Does section 100.18(1) cover statements made in Wisconsin by Wisconsin-based businesses when they are received by people outside the state?

The circuit court initially answered yes, but then answered no on a motion for reconsideration.

This Court should answer yes.

2. Subsection 11 of the Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Wis. Stat. § 100.18, provides several ways for the statute to be enforced, including both state enforcement actions and a private cause of action. The private cause of action may be brought by "[a]ny person suffering pecuniary loss because of a violation of this section." Wis. Stat. § 100.18(11)(b)2. In contrast, subsections (11)(a) and (11)(d) governing state enforcement actions contain no requirement of a pecuniary loss, and the Wisconsin Supreme Court has not treated pecuniary loss as an element of an enforcement claim. The two causes of action have different remedies, with the State able to seek injunctive relief, forfeitures, and restitution. Must the State show that someone suffered a pecuniary loss in order to prove a statutory violation in an enforcement action under § 100.18?

The circuit court answered yes.

This Court should answer no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State welcomes oral argument if it is helpful to the Court. This Court's opinion should be published because there is no state decision interpreting the application of Wis. Stat. § 100.18 to those who are outside Wisconsin when they hear or see the representation, that question is likely to recur in other cases, and there are conflicting federal district court decisions on this issue. Further, this Court should reaffirm that the State need not prove pecuniary loss in a section 100.18 enforcement action when the model jury instruction, Wis. JI–Civil 2418, applies to private causes of action but does not specifically address State claims. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1)(a)1., 3.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. General background.

Defendants operate a business that sells used and remanufactured auto parts to consumers throughout the United States, primarily via the internet. (R. 80:6–7.)

Beginning in May 2015, the State received hundreds of complaints about Defendants' business practices. (R. 62:7– 56.) The complaints ranged from misrepresentations about the mileage of parts being offered for sale and the quality of the parts, including whether they had been tested and guaranteed. (R. 62:17–56.) They also complained about the defendants' assertions about the size of their inventory and locations where they operated. (R. 62:17–56.)

The defendants' business operates exclusively out of Wisconsin. Midwest Auto Recycling, LLC ("Midwest"), is the defendants' primary corporate entity; it does business in Cudahy, Wisconsin. (R. 80:6–8.) Defendant Alfred Talyansky, a Wisconsin resident, owns the websites that Defendants operate, while the corporate Defendants own the content

Page 10 of 41

on those websites. (R. 80:10–11.) He is the principal of Midwest and its top manager. (R. 337:103, 113.) Midwest's predecessor, Mid City Auto Recycling, was a salvage yard in Milwaukee, which sold used car parts. (R. 337:103–05.) Mid City Auto Recycling closed in 2006, and then Midwest was created. (R. 337:106.) The business moved its location to Cudahy and focused on online sales of used engines, transmissions, and other parts. (R. 337:107.) Midwest sells auto parts in the United States to auto shops and individuals. (R. 337:114.)

All the other defendants are corporate entities related to Midwest and all also have their primary place of business in Cudahy, Wisconsin. (R. 80:6–8.)¹ Some of the other corporate entities use mailing addresses outside Wisconsin, but those are not physical addresses and contain no business operations—they simply receive mail. (R. 80:7–8.) According to the defendants, Talyansky established various corporate entities, "using different company names and websites to increase internet traffic." (Dkt. 80:7.)

Midwest has "a lot of different websites" that are "made strictly for - to driv[e] traffic to our sites so customers find us, because there's so much competition out there." (R. 337:115.) Midwest owns numerous auto parts sales websites, including Engine & Transmission World, Belden Manufacturing, Engine Shopper, Engine Shopper Manager, SW Transmissions, SW Transmissions Manager, SW Engines, SW Engines Manager, Quality Used

¹ At the relevant times, the corporate entities were owned by Talyansky or some combination of the other entities (R. 80:6– 7). For example, Alfred and Edward Talyansky were the members of Midwest, Midwest was the member of Belden, Mfg, LLC, and Belden was the member of Engine & Transmission World, LLC. (R. 80:6–7.)

Transmissions, Quality Used Transmissions Manager, Quality Used Engines, Remanns, Remanns Manager, APLS Acquisitions, Engine Recycler, Engine Recycler Manger, U Need Engines, and U Need Engines Manager. (R. 337:115– 17; 338:26–29; 298, 300–01.)

A third-party contractor creates the defendants' website content, but Talyansky approves that content. (R. 81:3–4.) Those websites are the "primary source of information to potential customers," but information is also given to customers by phone or email. (R. 80:16.)² All of the defendants' telephone and email communications with customers are conducted from their Cudahy location in Wisconsin. (R. 80:16.) Likewise, all contacts with customers—whether via the defendants' websites or email and phone communications—drive sales transactions that are finalized at the defendants' location in Cudahy. (R. 80:15-16.)

II. Procedural history of the case.

A. The complaint and pretrial proceedings.

After receiving hundreds of complaints and investigating the matter, the State filed its initial complaint in June 2017 and the operative amended complaint in February 2018. (R. 344; 32.) The State brought the action "pursuant to Wis. Stat. §§ 100.18(11)(d) . . . to enforce" Wis. Stat. § 100.18 "and to recover pecuniary losses suffered by

² The defendants operate multiple websites over which they do business, including www.swengines.com, www.swtransmissions.com, www.qualityusedengines.com, www.engineandtransmissionworld.com, www.remanns.com, and gotengines.com, among many others. (R. 80:10–11.)

consumers." (R. $32:7 \P 1.$)³ The State's amended complaint alleges that Defendants have engaged in deceptive practices under Wis. Stat. § 100.18 by misleading consumers about their auto parts, services, and their physical location, by communications through internet advertising, websites, email, and telephone. (R. $32:23-24 \P\P 90-104$).) The State alleged that the defendants committed violations under two subsections of the Act: (1) fraudulent misrepresentations under Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1) in marketing and selling auto parts; and (2) fraudulent misrepresentations under section 100.18(10r) regarding where their business was located. (R. $32:23-24 \P\P 90-104$.)

The State sought judgment (1) finding that the defendants violated Wis. Stat. § 100.18; (2) finding that each violation was a separate offense; (3) enjoining the defendants and their agents from making further misrepresentations; (4) ordering the defendants to make restitution to consumers who suffered losses; (5) imposing civil forfeitures; (6) temporarily enjoining the defendants from billing customers for auto parts that were not the parts represented during the sale; (7) for costs and attorney fees; and (8) for other equitable relief. (R. 32:24-26 ¶¶ A.–I.)

In June 2018, the State initially disclosed to the court and defendants 427 consumer witnesses, with six in Wisconsin. (R. 62:7–14.)

The defendants moved for summary judgment, seeking a ruling that the State could not proceed with claims relating to anyone outside the state. (R. 72–76.) Section 100.18(1) requires the misrepresentation to be "made in Wisconsin." The defendants argued that to be a violation of

 $^{^{3}}$ The complaints alleged violations of Wis. Stat. § 100.195, but that claim was later dropped.

Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1), the statement must have also been "received" by someone in Wisconsin (R. 73:11-13) and that their website representations were not "made in Wisconsin" because they used out-of-state website consultants and servers (R. 73:14-15).

The circuit court denied the defendants' motion in an oral ruling (R. 102), then entered a written order (R. 101). The court held that "there is no language that indicates the conduct, statements, or consumers must be in Wisconsin, just that the false information must come before the public in Wisconsin." (R. 102:41–42.) "In short, the text of [Wis. Stat. § 100.18] contains no strict territorial boundary on its enforcement." (R. 102:45.) The court also concluded that the location of the servers and consultants was not relevant and that relied on federal authority stating that "the citizenship of the individual receiving the deceptive or misleading statement is of no consequence." (R. 102:43.)

The defendants petitioned this Court for leave to appeal the nonfinal order. See State v. Engine & Transmission World, LLC, No. 2018AP1960-LV. This Court denied the petition on April 9, 2019.

In November 2018, the State filed an amended witness disclosure narrowing the initial list of 427 potential witnesses down to 42 consumer witnesses, with two from Wisconsin. (R. 115:1–13.) The State then filed a pretrial report in April 2019 which included a list of 36 consumer witnesses, further narrowing list, and explaining that it "intend[ed] to present the testimony of 20 consumer witnesses to the jury," depending on which witnesses were available on the trial date. (R. 158:4, 5–19.) Two of the witnesses lived in Wisconsin. (R. 158:5–19.)

Almost two years later and after the trial had been delayed due to the pandemic, on March 1, 2021, the defendants filed a motion for reconsideration. (R. 230–32.) The motion was largely based on a September 2020 decision from the Eastern District of Wisconsin, T&M Farms v. CNH*Industrial America, LLC*, 488 F. Supp. 3d 756 (E.D. Wis. 2020), which held, contrary to other district courts, that Wis. Stat. § 100.18 did not apply to those who are not Wisconsin residents. (R. 231:4–8.)

The circuit court granted the motion at an oral ruling on April 19, 2021, (R. 247, App. 101-19), which was memorialized in a written order (R. 246, App. 120). The court held that there had been no manifest error of fact or law, but it was allowed to consider T&M Farms as "the most recent authority" interpreting Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1).(R. 247:5, App. 105 (citing Seebach v. Beetling Design Corp., 46 F. Supp. 3d 876 (E.D. Wis. 2014)).) The court relied on $T\&M \ Farms$ and held that that section 100.18(1) "does not apply unless a person makes a deceptive representation that is likely to reach an[d] induce an action by a purchaser in Wisconsin." (R. 247:10, App. 110.) In sum, "the State cannot pursue claims based on customers that received and acted on the advertisements outside of Wisconsin." (R. 247:11, App. 111.)

The order was non-final, and so trial preparations continued. Trial was set to begin November 29, 2021. (R. 337.) On October 6, 2021, the defendants filed a memorandum asserting that the testimony of witnesses living outside Wisconsin was not relevant given the reconsideration order. (R. 259:2–3.) In response, the State filed a written offer of proof. (R. 264:1, App. 121.)

The State's offer of proof involved three types of evidence: (1) documents and testimony summarizing the defendants' practice of quoting mileages that systematically underreported the mileage on the engines actually sold; (2) testimony of out-of-state consumers about their experiences with the defendants; and (3) evidence of the defendants' internet advertising. (R. 264, App. 121–37.)

On the first point, the evidence would include testimony of Jocelyn Henning, a Department of Justice employee, who would summarize the data in Defendants' and their supplier's business records to compare the mileage numbers provided in quotes with the mileage of parts delivered, and the testimony of two witnesses from the defendants' supplier to authenticate their records. (R. 264:3– 9, App. 129.) Ms. Henning's testimony would have shown that the defendants systematically deceived prospective customers about the mileage of the parts they sold, promising low-mileage parts and instead delivering highmileage parts. (R. 264:5-6, App. 125-26.) Her testimony would have established that roughly 92% of the parts orders she matched from 2015 sales records had mileage numbers more than 50,000 miles higher than the numbers the defendants advertised for the same part, and approximately 44% had mileage numbers more than 100,000 miles higher than the numbers the defendants advertised. (R. 264:5, App. 125; 168 (summary chart).)

On the second point, the State would offer testimony from three out-of-state consumers about how the engines they received did not match up with the representations that had been made about mileage and compression testing. (R. 264:9–16, App. 129–36.) Steve Malcolm from Ohio would have testified about an engine he purchased from Engine and Transmission World's website that he believed, based upon the quote he received, had about 68,000 miles on it but, upon investigation, had over 200,000 miles. (R. 264:12-14, App. 132–34.) Steve Dentici from California would have testified that he bought an allegedly low-mileage engine from the "SWEngines.com" website, it failed, and he replaced it after finding another engine on the "Remann's" website, not knowing that it was another of the defendants' sites. (R. 264:14–15, App. 134–35.) Davidson Le'Teng from Missouri is a highly experienced amateur mechanic who

would have testified about an allegedly low-mileage engine he purchased from SWEngines.com, which he inspected and tested, concluding that it was in poor condition and likely had more than the quoted 68,000 miles on it. (R. 264:15–16, App. 135–36.)⁴

Lastly, the State would offer testimony from the defendants' provider of internet advertising, who would testify about, among other things, why the defendants had multiple websites with different names and how Defendant Alfred Talyansky controlled the content of the defendants' websites. (R. 264:16–17, App. 136–37.)

In an oral ruling, the circuit court⁵ excluded all evidence relating to out-of-state sales because, due to the ruling on the reconsideration motion, "matters involving incidents that occurred outside Wisconsin, meaning dealing with residents of other states, is not admissible." (R. 309:10, App. 141.) The court ruled that under Wis. Stat. § 904.03, such evidence "would be unduly prejudicial in view of what I believe the law is and what the statute says." (R. 309:10, App. 141.) This was memorialized in a written order issued after the trial, (R. 324:1, App. 188), after the court had rejected several orders jointly proposed orders by the parties in the weeks leading up to trial (R. 276–77, 294–95). Thus, the State was precluded from putting on the three non-

⁴ The circuit court had previously denied the defendants' motion in limine to exclude Mr. Le'Teng's lay and expert testimony. (R. 198.)

⁵ This case was presided over by multiple circuit court judges. Regarding the rulings at issue in this appeal, the Honorable Williams S. Pocan ruled on the two motions regarding the proper interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1) while the Honorable William Sosnay issued the pretrial and trial rulings on evidence, jury instructions, the special verdict form, and the State's post-trial motion for judgment.

Wisconsin witnesses and the vast majority of Ms. Henning's evidence was also inadmissible.

Regarding the pecuniary loss element, before trial, the an parties reached agreement regarding the iurv instructions and submitted them to the court. (R. 309:17.) The joint proposed instructions included the first two elements in Wis. JI-Civil 2418 for a Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1) claim and omitted any element of monetary loss. (R. 273:2–3, App. 145–46.) The joint proposed instructions also included an instruction for the State's Wis. Stat. § 100.18(10r) misrepresentation-of-business-location claim that was based upon the statutory text and included no element of pecuniary loss. (R. 273:3, App. 146.)

B. Trial proceedings

At trial, limited by the circuit court's ruling on the scope of Wis. Stat. § 100.18(1), the State presented the testimony of one Wisconsin witness and no out-of-state witnesses.

Joseph Koehler of Westfield testified about used transmissions he purchased from Defendant Quality Used Transmissions. (R. 338:161–210.) He searched Google for "used transmissions" and focused on those that did not have a lot of miles and included a warranty. (R. 338:166–67.) His search led him to the Quality Used Transmissions website, which he used to get a quote for a transmission with a supposed mileage of 78,176. (R. 338:170–72.) Koehler believed that the transmission was in Quality Used Transmissions' inventory. (R. 338:173–74.) The information stated that the transmission was tested, visually inspected, and cleaned. (R. 338:174.) He purchased a used transmission, and it was shipped directly to his local mechanic, who installed it in the Koehler family's minivan. (R. 338:174–75, 177.)

Page 18 of 41

Shortly thereafter, the family learned from a dealership that the van should not be driven, and the transmission needed to be replaced. (R. 338:182–85.) While Quality Used Transmissions delivered a second used transmission under the parts warranty (R. 338:184–85, 207–10), it refused to cover the \$1,100 labor cost for installing the second replacement transmission, rejecting Koehler's proof regarding the odometer reading. (R. 338:185–90.) Now lacking confidence in the reliability of the part, the Koehlers "got rid of the van as quick as [they] could." (R. 338:191.)

In addition to Al Talyansky, the State called two other witnesses who were employed by Talyansky and Midwest, Chris Flood and Dale Heinzel. (R. 338:70, 212.) Flood was the manager of Midwest's ordering department and managed the Engine & Transmission World website. (R. 338:19–20.) He acknowledged using multiple aliases, not his own name, when interacting with customers. (R. 338:152–53.) Heinzel who uses the name "Dale Jones" when dealing with customers on the phone—was the manager of the shipping department at Midwest. (R. 338:212–13.)

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