Page 1 of 54

FILED 10-20-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2022AP788

## STATE OF WISCONSIN,

#### Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Respondent,

v.

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Sharpe Court relied upon Goshen v. Mutual Life Ins. Co. of N.Y., 98 N.Y.2d 314, 324 (2002) and Cruz v. FXDirectDealer,LLC, 720 F.3d 115 (2d Cir.2013).

Based on the foregoing, to the extent this Court considers cases outside Wisconsin state and federal courts, there is no support for the State's interpretation.

# *iii. The Foreign Cases Relied Upon by the State Are Distinguishable and Unhelpful*

Although this Court need not consider cases outside Wisconsin state and federal courts, the plethora of foreign cases cited by the State are distinguishable.

As an initial matter, the only foreign case cited by the State addressing §100.18 is *Demitropoulos v. Bank One Milwaukee, N.A.*, 915 F. Supp. 1399, 1405 (N.D. Ill. 1996). Like the New York *Cruz* case, *Demitropoulos* involved a forum selection clause selecting Wisconsin law. In *Demitropoulos*, plaintiff had entered into a lease at a local car dealership in Illinois. *Demitropoulos, Id.* at 1405. The leasing bank, Bank One, was located in Wisconsin. *Id.* The lease form contained a choice of law clause that required disputes to be governed by Wisconsin law. *Id.* at 1413.

After determining that Wisconsin law would apply, the court addressed defendant's argument that §100.18 "does not protect nonresidents of Wisconsin." *Id.* at 1414. The Court analyzed several cases discussing the statutory objectives of §100.18 and concluded that no case law held that the statute only afforded protection to state residents. *Id.* at 1414-15. The parties never raised the issue of whether a territorial limitation is imposed by the language "in this state," and the court did not address it. Further, because the parties expressly agreed to apply Wisconsin law to the dispute, defendant likely had waived or was estopped from making any argument that Wisconsin law could not be enforced regardless of where the conduct occurred. Therefore, the *Demitropoulos* decision does not support the State's interpretation of §100.18 having extraterritorial application.

The State also relies upon a variety of cases interpreting the consumer protections of other states. However, each case is distinguishable and falsely equates §100.18 with materially different statutory language of other jurisdictions.

The State's citation to *State by Abrams v. Camera Warehouse, Inc.*, 496 N.Y.S.2d 659 (Sup. Ct. 1985), is unhelpful. The *Camera Warehouse* case involved interpretation of New York General Business Law § 518, which prohibited surcharges for credit card transactions and had no territorial limitation language. *Id.* at 660.<sup>8</sup> Ultimately, the court never addressed any language similar to § 100.18 in its decision, and the statute at issue was later found to be unconstitutional in *People v. Fulvio*, 517 N.Y.S.2d 1008 (Crim. Ct. 1987).

The State also cites to, *People by Vacco v. Lipsitz*, 663 N.Y.S.2d 468 (Sup. Ct. 1997). In *Vacco*, the New York Attorney General alleged there were numerous complaints concerning a New York magazine supplier, who amongst other allegations, including "spamming," failing to deliver magazines after a subscription was purchased. *Id.* at 470-71. The alleged acts occurred over the internet; however, the location of the sender was in New York. As a result, the court determined that New York had jurisdiction to include out-of-state complaints. *Id.* at 472-74. However, the *Vacco* Court relied upon the *Camera* case, which had found "the plain meaning of the language indicates the Legislature intended that all consumers be protected from illegal practices regardless of their residency. . . ." *Id.* at 474. (citing *Camera Warehouse*, 496 N.Y.S.2d at 660). Subsequently, the statute at issue in *Camera*, was found unconstitutional. *Id.* at 475. The *Vacco* Court also acknowledged the case was one of "nationwide first impression." *Vacco*, 663 N.Y.S.2d at 470.

Since *Vacco* was decided, multiple courts have issued contrary decisions interpreting New York law including *Goshen*, 98 N.Y.2d at 326.<sup>9</sup> The *Goshen* Court held that GBL limiting language of "in this state" required the misrepresentation to occur in the relevant state. *Id.* (holding "the intent is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 518 provides,

No seller in any sales transaction may impose a surcharge on a holder who elects to use a credit card in lieu of payment by cash, check, or similar means. Any seller who violates the provisions of this section shall be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed five hundred dollars or a term of imprisonment up to one year, or both.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See also Igloo, 2022 WL 2657350; Jenkins, 2022 WL 3371131.

to protect consumers in their transactions that take place in New York State"). The Court went on to indicate the GBL "was not intended to police the out-of-state transactions of New York companies . . . any deception took place in Florida, not New York." *Id*. Thus, the New York precedent cited by the State is outdated and at best, establishes New York Courts do not agree as to how the GBL should apply.

The State then cites to *Danganan v. Guardian Prot. Servs.*, 179 A.3d 9, 16 (Pa. 2018). This case involved an out-of-state consumer filing suit against an in-state security company alleging violation of Pennsylvania's Unfair Trade Practices law. *Id.* at 10. Additionally, this case involved a contractual choice of law clause. *Id.* The Court ultimately applied Pennsylvania law to out-of-state conduct and determined the statute had no territorial limitation. *Id.* at 11-12. The statute's language expressly states it applies to conduct "wherever situate, and includes any trade of commerce directly or indirectly affecting the people of this Commonwealth." *Id.* at 10.<sup>10</sup> In other words, there was no geographic limitation in the Pennsylvania statute, and it contemplates regulation of conduct which indirectly affects the Commonwealth. This case is distinguishable from § 100.18, which does contain an express territorial limitation and does not contemplate regulation indirectly affecting Wisconsin.

The State next cites to *Thornell v. Seattle Serv. Bureau, Inc.*, 363 P.3d 587 (Wash. 2015). This case involved a plaintiff who was a Texas resident alleging defendant sent debt collection letters in violations of Washington Consumer Act. *Id.* ¶ 2. Although the court permitted regulation of out-of-state conduct, this case is again clearly distinguishable as Washington's statute and Wisconsin's §100.18 are very different. The Washington statute permits regulation of "any commerce directly or indirectly affecting..." the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Pennsylvania UTPCPL applies to "trade" and commerce" which are defined to include "the advertising, offering for sale, sale or distribution of any services and any property, tangible or intangible, real, personal or mixed, and any other article, commodity, or thing of value wherever situate, and includes any trade or commerce directly or indirectly affecting the people of this Commonwealth." 73 Pa. Stat. and Cons. Ann. § 201-2 (West 2020). !!

Commonwealth. *Id.* ¶ 10.<sup>11</sup> Further, the Washington courts relied upon existing Washington case law that had applied the statute to out-of-state commerce, which does not exist in this case.

The State relies upon *Kugler v. Haitian Tours, Inc.*, 293 A.2d 706 (1972). In this case the Defendant was a New Jersey Company that offered divorce packages in Haiti which would allegedly be recognized in the United States. *Id.* at 707. However, complications arose when the divorces were not recognized. The New Jersey Attorney General sued defendant under the New Jersey consumer fraud statute. *Id.*<sup>12</sup> However, New Jersey law is not analogous to § 100.18, and contains no territorial limitation.

The State also relies upon *Garner v. Healy*, 184 F.R.D. 598 (N.D. Ill. 1999). The facts are completely inapposite. *Garner* is a class action certification case, where plaintiff alleged defendant sold non-wax products as wax. *Id.* at 599. Defendants argued the named plaintiffs could not sue under state consumer laws in Illinois, Ohio or Connecticut because they did not purchase products in those states. *Id.* at 603. The Court recognized that, "This disagreement is not subject to a simple legal resolution." *Id.* at 604. With respect to whether out-of-state consumers can sue under Illinois consumer protection laws, the court stated, "conflicting interpretations of the ICFA have caused a split of authority within this district over application of the ICFA to consumers who are not citizens of Illinois." *Id.* With little

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The relevant statutory language examined by the court allows regulation of trade and commerce defines as, "(2) "Trade" and "commerce" shall include the sale of assets or services, and any commerce directly or indirectly affecting the people of the state of Washington." Wash. Rev. Code Ann. § 19.86.010 (West 2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The New Jersey Statutes at issue prohibits:

The act, use or employment by any person of any commercial practice that is unconscionable or abusive, deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, misrepresentation, or the knowing, concealment, suppression, or omission of any material fact with intent that others rely upon such concealment, suppression or omission, in connection with the sale or advertisement of any merchandise . . . whether or not any person has in fact been misled, deceived or damaged thereby, is declared to be an unlawful practice.

N.J. Stat. Ann. § 56:8-2. The term "merchandise" shall include any objects, wares, goods, commodities, services or anything offered, directly or indirectly to the public for sale. N.J. Stat. Ann. § 56:8-1.

discussion, the Court concluded it would allow the claims at this stage of the case, but there was no certainty on whether the other state's laws would apply. *Id*. However, "Defendants have not provided this Court with any case law that would prohibit the application of the Ohio or Connecticut consumer fraud statutes to non-resident consumers[.]" *Id*. The Court allowed the claims to go forward "at this stage in the proceedings" and granted the motion for class certification. The Court did not state out-of-state consumers were categorically permitted to recover, but indicated only that the class could be certified. *Id*. at 604-05. The court did not make a definitive ruling on whether a cause of action existed, and there was no analysis of §100.18. As a result, *Garner* is unhelpful.

Finally, the State relies upon *In re Arby's Rest. Grp. Inc. Litig.*, No. 17-CV-0514-AT, 2018 WL 2128441, at \*18 (N.D. Ga. Mar. 5, 2018). Arby's point of sale machines was hacked by a third-party resulting in the theft of consumer credit card information. Lawsuits were brought by consumers and financial institutions alleging violation of various state's consumer protection laws. The court determined out-of-state consumers could bring a claim under Georgia consumer law. However, in doing so, the court stated, "Arby's has not cited any authority to support its assertion that a non-Georgia resident lacks standing to sue for violations of the Georgia Fair Business Practices Act by a Georgia corporation." *Id.* at \*17. The court also acknowledged "no Georgia court has directly addressed this question." *Id.* at \*18. Consequently, the GFBPA analyzed by the court is not analogous to Wisconsin's §100.18.

## D. The State is Not Entitled to a New Trial

Following the decision on Midwest's Motion for Reconsideration, the State was put on notice the State's strategy had to change. The circuit court was willing to adjust deadlines or even remove the trial date. (R. 247:13-14., App. 113-14.) The State requested the court take "no further action" at that time, or at any other time. (*Id.*) The State had ample time to identify Wisconsin witnesses, or seek an adjournment.

After the April 19, 2021, decision, any out-of-state witness testimony was not relevant. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 904.01 & 904.02. Evidence there were "similar" complaints by out-of-state consumers (and the State's claim these

complaints are similar is not true, since each transaction is unique) was irrelevant at the time of trial, and potentially prejudicial under Wis. Stat. § 904.03. It would have been unfairly prejudicial to Midwest to permit the State to attempt to influence the jury's decision by introducing the testimony of out-of-state consumers, because it did not have Wisconsin witnesses. The State cannot complain it only had a single witness at trial, since the State made a strategic decision on how to prepare after the Motion for Reconsideration was granted.

#### II. The State Was Required Prove Pecuniary Loss

The State argues the circuit court erred in determining that pecuniary loss is an element of Wis. Stat. §§ 100.18 and 100.18(10r). Specifically, the circuit court required pecuniary loss and declined to award costs or forfeitures for technical violations absent damages for two reasons. First, the circuit court determined that pecuniary loss was a required element under §§100.18(1) & (10r), and therefore, the jury's determination that no injury had occurred was dispositive. Second, the court indicated that it could not award forfeitures for conduct occurring outside Wisconsin. At trial, the State provided no testimony or other evidence that a Wisconsin consumer had even seen the location-based misrepresentations at issue. Although the State argued that online advertisements are presumably available to Wisconsin residents, the court determined this type of inferential violation was inconsistent with the T&M Farms decision. As stated below, the circuit court's determinations were correct.

## A. Pecuniary Loss Is an Element of the State's §100.18 Claims

In support of its position, the State cites to one case—*State v. Am. TV & Appliance of Madison, Inc.*, 146 Wis. 2d 292, 430 N.W.2d 709 (1988). The circuit court distinguished *American TV*, because that case involved an appeal relating to the trial court's decision to dismiss the State's complaint for failure to state a claim. (R. 339:84-85.) Thus, the court was not required to evaluate pecuniary loss since the existence of such loss was not at issue.

Further, Judge Sosnay correctly found that subsequent Wisconsin authority has consistently required pecuniary harm for any claim under §100.18. Specifically, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has identified three elements to a §100.18 claim: (1) the defendant made a representation to the public with

the intent to induce an obligation, (2) "that the representation was untrue, deceptive or misleading," and (3) "that the representation caused the plaintiff a pecuniary loss." (R. 336:8); *Novell v. Migliaccio*, 2008 WI 44, 309 Wis. 2d 132, 749 N.W.2d 544; *K & S Tool & Die Corp.*, 2007 WI 70, 301 Wis. 2d 109, 732 N.W.2d 792. This precedent is clear and requires pecuniary loss be demonstrated. *Fox v. lowa Health Sys.*, 399 F. Supp. 3d 780, 798 (W.D. Wis. 2019) (holding that claimants "under the Wisconsin Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Wis. Stat. §100.18, . . . must prove the representation materially induced (caused) a pecuniary loss to the plaintiffs.") Contrary to the State's argument, these cases do not condition the elements of a claim on whether the State or a private individual is the plaintiff.

Although there is no binding case law which expressly addresses the elements required to prove a violation of Wis. Stat. § 100.18(10r), a locationbased misrepresentation under Wis. Stat. § 100.18(10r) is undeniably part of the WDTPA and should be treated similarly to other forms of misrepresentation contained in the WDTPA.

Where courts have clearly indicated *all* deceptive trade practice claims require a showing of pecuniary loss, the circuit court's determination that the State had not proven a violation of any portion of the WDTPA was correct.

# B. Even if pecuniary loss is not an element of State's §100.18 Claims, the Error is Harmless

Even if the circuit court did err by requiring the State demonstrate pecuniary loss, that error was harmless. As an initial matter, the jury verdict separately asked whether a misrepresentation had occurred and whether pecuniary loss resulted from that misrepresentation. The jury had to answer Special Verdict Question No. 1, "Were the representations in the Defendants' advertisements to Wisconsin consumers untrue, deceptive, or misleading?" (R. 292:1.) The jury answered "No." (*Id.*) Thus, regardless of whether damages were required or not, the State could not possibly prevail on its claims under Wis Stat. § 100.18(1). Further, this verdict question mirrored the elements set forth in *Am. TV & Appliance of Madison*.

The *Rashke* case is illustrative of harmless error in separated jury verdict questions. *Rashke v. Koberstein, et al.*, 220 Wis. 75, 264 N.W. 643 (1936).

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